

Kantowski-Sachs Einstein-aether scalar field cosmological models: the sequel

To cite this article: S. Mohandas et al JCAP08(2020)021

View the article online for updates and enhancements.

You may also like

- <u>Rotating black holes in Einstein-aether</u> <u>theory</u> Alexander Adam, Pau Figueras, Ted Jacobson et al.
- <u>Ponderable aether</u> Antony J. Speranza
- Einstein-aether theory: dynamics of relativistic particles with spin or polarization in a Gödel-type universe Alexander B. Balakin and Vladimir A. Popov

Kantowski-Sachs Einstein-aether scalar field cosmological models: the sequel

S. Mohandas,^{a,b} R.J. van den Hoogen,^a D. Winters^{a,b} and M. Dala^a

^aDepartment of Mathematics and Statistics, St. Francis Xavier University, 2323 Notre Dame Avenue, Antigonish, N.S., Canada

^bDepartment of Physics, St. Francis Xavier University, Physical Sciences Complex, 5009 Chapel Square, Antigonish, Nova Scotia, Canada

E-mail: x2015jvq@stfx.ca, rvandenh@stfx.ca, x2017uza@stfx.ca, x2018upt@stfx.ca

Received May 25, 2020 Accepted July 10, 2020 Published August 11, 2020

Abstract. Utilizing the autonomous system of ordinary differential equations derived in [1] to define the evolution, we further investigate a class of cosmological models within an Einsteinaether gravitational framework by introducing a non-trivial coupling between the shear of the aether field to the scalar field on the future asymptotic solution. We subsequently conduct qualitative and numerical stability analysis on the new set of equilibrium points and paramountly determine that the expansionary power-law inflationary attractor becomes anisotropic rather than isotropic in the presence of such a coupling. It is further shown that the stability of this solution is dependent on the value of the shear coupling parameter a_3 . We also discover a family of asymptotically stable periodic orbits which exist for a particular range of parameter values within the Bianchi I invariant set and vanish in the absence of coupling between the aether field and the scalar field.

Keywords: inflation, modified gravity, cosmology of theories beyond the SM

ArXiv ePrint: 2005.10370

Contents

1	Introduction			
	1.1 Lorentz-violating scalar field cosmological models	1		
	1.2 Einstein-aether gravity with a scalar field	2		
	1.3 The Kantowski-Sachs cosmological model with a scalar field	3		
	1.4 The field equations in normalized variables	4		
2	Qualitative analysis of the dynamical system			
	2.1 The invariant sets	6		
	2.2 The equilibrium points	6		
	2.2.1 Equilibrium points: $Q^2 < 1$ — Kantowski-Sachs	6		
	2.2.2 Equilibrium Points: $Q = +1$ — Bianchi I	8		
	2.3 Power-law inflation	15		
3	Numerical analysis and qualitative summary			
	3.1 Bianchi I $(Q = 1)$ invariant set	18		
	3.2 Kantowski-Sachs $(Q^2 < 1)$ invariant set	18		
4	Concluding remarks			
A	The $KS2_{\delta}$ equilibrium points	21		

1 Introduction

1.1 Lorentz-violating scalar field cosmological models

A notable obstacle for the advancement of General Relativity (GR) lies in its inability to harmonize with quantum mechanics and produce a consistent framework for a quantum theory of gravity. The potential prediction by notable quantum gravity theories of a preferred rest frame at the microscopic level in vacuum necessitates a violation of Lorentz invariance [2–5]. Further if one allows violations of Lorentz invariance, divergences in perturbative expansions of quantum field theories can be addressed [6]. Hence, there are some theoretical reasons for investigating physical theories with Lorentz non-invariance to remedy these discordances. Here we are interested in investigating a Lorentz non-invariant gravitational theory containing a scalar field.

Conventional Einstein-aether theory consists of GR coupled to a dynamical, timelike unit vector field (u^a) : the aether [3, 7–12]. This aether field breaks Lorentz invariance but maintains local rotational symmetry and therefore only the boost sector of the Lorentz symmetry is broken. Typically, this Lorentz violation only occurs in the gravity sector of Einstein-aether theory, however, a logical extension is to permit similar Lorentz violations within the matter sector. If the matter sector is described by a scalar field, then we can achieve a Lorentz violation if the scalar field is assumed to be coupled to the aether field within the scalar field potential [1, 13–20]. Should the scalar field be identified with the inflaton, this extension and effective aether coupling could result in the modification of standard inflationary dynamics found in General Relativity. In GR, if the matter is described by a scalar field ϕ , with an exponential potential $V = V_0 e^{-2k\phi}$, then all *ever-expanding* spatially homogeneous models have an asymptotic power-law inflationary isotropic solution when the scalar field potential is sufficiently flat, that is when $k^2 < \frac{1}{2}$ [21–24]. Of course, for a subset of the positive spatial curvature models of Bianchi type IX, Kantowski-Sachs, and closed FRW models, there exist models that are not *ever-expanding* when $k^2 < \frac{1}{2}$ and recollapse [22–24]. If $k^2 > \frac{1}{2}$, then the only models that can possibly isotropize are those of Bianchi types I, V, VII, or IX [25, 26]. Bianchi type VII_h cosmological models with $k^2 > \frac{1}{2}$ can isotropize towards an ever-expanding isotropic model, however, these asymptotic states are not power-law inflationary solutions [27]. Additionally, all initially expanding Bianchi type IX models with $k^2 > \frac{1}{2}$ do not isotropize towards an ever-expanding isotropize towards an ever-expanding bianchi type IX models with $k^2 > \frac{1}{2}$ do not isotropize towards an ever-expanding bianchi type IX models with $k^2 > \frac{1}{2}$ do not isotropize towards an ever-expanding bianchi type IX models with $k^2 > \frac{1}{2}$ do not isotropize towards an ever-expanding bianchi type IX models with $k^2 > \frac{1}{2}$ do not isotropize towards an ever-expanding bianchi type IX models with $k^2 > \frac{1}{2}$ do not isotropize towards an ever-expanding bianchi type IX models with $k^2 > \frac{1}{2}$ do not isotropize towards an ever-expanding isotropize towards an ever-expanding bianchi type IX models with $k^2 > \frac{1}{2}$ do not isotropize towards an ever-expanding isotropize towards an ever-expanding isotropize towards an ever-expanding isotropic model [28].

Recently within an Einstein-aether gravitational framework, a class of spatially homogeneous but anisotropic cosmological models containing a scalar field which is coupled to the expansion $\theta = \nabla_a u^a$ of the aether field through a generalized exponential potential $V(\phi, \theta)$ has been investigated [1, 19, 20]. It has been observed that the existence of the coupling between the scalar field and the expansion of the aether field allows for the possibility of a late-time isotropic inflationary attractor for values of the parameter $k^2 > \frac{1}{2}$ [1].

In this paper, we extend the analysis found in [1, 19, 20] by investigating the effects of coupling the scalar field to the shear scalar σ of the aether field via a generalized scalar field potential of the form $V(\phi, \theta, \sigma^2)$. The complete derivation of the governing set of equations for the explicit model under consideration can be found in [1], therefore, for brevity we only summarize all pertinent equations and assumptions and refer the reader to [1] for any missing details. The primary purpose of this paper is to determine the effects of coupling the shear of the aether field to the scalar field on the future asymptotic solution.

1.2 Einstein-aether gravity with a scalar field

The Lagrangian for Einstein-aether gravity (see [3, 7–13, 16, 20, 29] for details) is

$$\mathcal{L}^{AE} = \frac{1}{2}R - K^{ab}_{\ cd} \nabla_a u^c \nabla_b u^d + \lambda (u^a u_a + 1), \qquad (1.1)$$

where

$$K^{ab}_{\ cd} = c_1 g^{ab} g_{cd} + c_2 \delta^a_c \delta^b_d + c_3 \delta^a_d \delta^b_c + c_4 u^a u^b g_{cd}, \tag{1.2}$$

and where λ is the Lagrange multiplier. The Lagrangian for the scalar field is

$$L^{\rm M} = -\frac{1}{2}g^{ab}\nabla_a\phi\nabla_b\phi - V(\phi,\theta,\sigma^2), \qquad (1.3)$$

where the scalar field potential is assumed to be a function of the scalar field, ϕ , the expansion scalar, $\theta = \nabla_a u^a$, and the shear scalar $\sigma^2 = \frac{1}{2}\sigma_{ab}\sigma^{ab}$, of the aether vector field.

Varying the total action

$$S = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left[\frac{1}{8\pi G} \mathcal{L}^{AE} + \mathcal{L}^{M} \right].$$
(1.4)

with respect to the inverse metric g^{ab} , the aether vector u^a , the scalar field ϕ , and the multiplier λ respectively yields the Einstein-aether, Klein-Gordon and the normalization

field equations

$$G_{ab} = T_{ab}^{\rm U} + 8\pi G T_{ab}^{\rm M}, \tag{1.5}$$

$$-2\lambda u_a = \frac{\delta \mathcal{L}^{\mathrm{U}}}{\delta u^a} + 8\pi G \frac{\delta \mathcal{L}^{\mathrm{M}}}{\delta u^a},\tag{1.6}$$

$$\nabla^a \nabla_a \phi - V_\phi = 0, \tag{1.7}$$

$$u^a u_a = -1. \tag{1.8}$$

The effective energy momentum tensor due to the aether vector field is

$$T_{ab}^{\rm U} = 2\nabla_c \left(J_{(a}^{\ c} u_{b)} - J_{(a}^{\ c} u_{b)} - J_{(ab)} u^c \right) + 2c_1 \left((\nabla_a u^c) (\nabla_b u_c) - (\nabla^c u_a) (\nabla_c u_b) \right) - 2c_4 \dot{u}_a \dot{u}_b - 2 \left(u^d \nabla_c J_d^c + c_4 \dot{u}_c \dot{u}^c \right) u_a u_b - g_{ab} \left(K_{ef}^{cd} \nabla_c u^e \nabla_d u^f \right),$$
(1.9)

where

$$J^a_{\ b} = -K^{ac}_{\ bd} \nabla_c u^d, \tag{1.10}$$

$$\dot{u}^a = u^b \nabla_b u^a. \tag{1.11}$$

Additionally, the effective energy momentum tensor due to the scalar field is

$$T_{ab}^{M} = \nabla_{a}\phi\nabla_{b}\phi - \left(\frac{1}{2}\nabla_{c}\phi\nabla^{c}\phi + V\right)g_{ab} + \theta V_{\theta}g_{ab} + \dot{V}_{\theta}(g_{ab} + u_{a}u_{b}) + \left(\theta V_{\sigma^{2}} + \dot{V}_{\sigma^{2}}\right)\sigma_{ab} + V_{\sigma^{2}}\dot{\sigma}_{ab} - 2\sigma^{2}V_{\sigma^{2}}u_{a}u_{b},$$
(1.12)

where $V = V(\phi, \theta, \sigma^2)$ and an overdot indicates derivative along the vector field u^a via $\dot{f} \equiv \partial_a(f)u^a$. The terms V_{θ} and V_{σ^2} are the partial derivatives of the scalar field potential with respect to θ and σ^2 , respectively.

1.3 The Kantowski-Sachs cosmological model with a scalar field

The geometry under consideration is spherically symmetric, spatially homogeneous and anisotropic represented by the Kantowski-Sachs metric

$$ds^{2} = -dt^{2} + a(t)^{2}dx^{2} + b(t)^{2}(d\vartheta^{2} + \sin^{2}\vartheta d\varphi^{2}).$$
(1.13)

The aether vector field in co-moving coordinates is $u^a = (1, 0, 0, 0)$, and the corresponding expansion and shear scalars are

$$\theta = \frac{\dot{a}}{a} + 2\frac{\dot{b}}{b}, \qquad \sigma^2 = 3\sigma_+^2 = \frac{1}{3}\left(\frac{\dot{b}}{b} - \frac{\dot{a}}{a}\right)^2,$$
 (1.14)

while the shear tensor has the form $\sigma^a_{\ b} = \text{Diag}[0, -2\sigma_+, \sigma_+, \sigma_+].$

The effective energy density ρ^{U} , isotropic pressure, p^{U} , energy flux q_{a}^{U} , and anisotropic stress $\pi^{a}_{\ b}{}^{U}$ due to the aether field are:

$$\rho^{\rm U} = -\frac{1}{3}c_{\theta}\theta^2 - 6c_{\sigma}\sigma_+^2, \qquad (1.15)$$

$$p^{\rm U} = \frac{1}{3}c_{\theta}\theta^2 + \frac{2}{3}c_{\theta}\dot{\theta} - 6c_{\sigma}\sigma_+^2, \qquad (1.16)$$

$$q_a{}^{\mathrm{U}} = 0, \qquad (1.17)$$

$$\pi^a{}^{\scriptscriptstyle U}_b = 2c_\sigma(\dot{\sigma}^a{}_b + \theta \sigma^a{}_b), \qquad (1.18)$$

where new parameters $c_{\theta} = (c_1 + 3c_2 + c_3)$ and $c_{\sigma} = (c_1 + c_3)$ have been defined. Based on astrophysical observations, the parameters c_{θ} and c_{σ} satisfy the bounds [20]

$$0 \le c_{\sigma} \le \frac{1}{2}, 1 - 2c_{\sigma} \le \frac{1 - 2c_{\sigma}}{1 + c_{\theta}} \le 1 - \frac{3}{2}c_{\sigma}.$$
(1.19)

We note that the differential equations for $\hat{\theta}$ and $\dot{\sigma}_+$ reduce to algebraic equations when $1 + c_{\theta} = 0$ or $1 - 2c_{\sigma} = 0$ respectively. Therefore for mathematical reasons, we assume that $1 + c_{\theta} > 0$ and $1 - 2c_{\sigma} > 0$. If we define $c^2 = \frac{1 - 2c_{\sigma}}{1 + c_{\theta}}$, then $0 < c \le 1$ where c = 1 reduces to conventional GR.

The generalized exponential scalar field potential which couples the expansion and shear scalars of the aether field to the scalar field is assumed to have the form

$$V(\phi, \theta, \sigma_{+}) = a_1 e^{-2k\phi} + a_2 \theta e^{-k\phi} + a_3 \sigma_{+} e^{-k\phi}, \qquad (1.20)$$

where $k \ge 0$ and $a_1 \ge 0$ are assumed. The analysis in [1] assumed that there was no coupling between the shear scalar of the aether field and the scalar field, $a_3 = 0$. The primary purpose of this paper is to investigate a nontrivial coupling $a_3 \ne 0$. The effective energy density $\rho^{\rm M}$, isotropic pressure $p^{\rm M}$, energy flux $q_a^{\rm M}$, and anisotropic stress $\pi^a_{\ b}^{\rm M}$ due to the scalar field are

$$\rho^{\rm M} = \frac{1}{2}\dot{\phi}^2 + a_1 \mathrm{e}^{-2k\phi},\tag{1.21}$$

$$p^{\rm M} = \frac{1}{2}\dot{\phi}^2 - a_1 e^{-2k\phi} - ka_2 \dot{\phi} e^{-k\phi} - a_3 \sigma_+ e^{-k\phi}, \qquad (1.22)$$

$$q_a^{\text{M}} = 0, \tag{1.23}$$

$$\pi_{+}^{M} = \frac{a_{3}}{6} (\theta - k\dot{\phi}) e^{-k\phi}, \qquad (1.24)$$

where the anisotropic stress is $\pi^a{}_b{}^{\mathrm{M}} = \mathrm{Diag}[0, -2\pi^{\mathrm{M}}_+, \pi^{\mathrm{M}}_+, \pi^{\mathrm{M}}_+].$

1.4 The field equations in normalized variables

In [1] the normalized variables

$$\Phi = \frac{\sqrt{a_1} \mathrm{e}^{-k\phi}}{D}, \qquad \Psi = \frac{\psi}{\sqrt{2}D}, \qquad y = \frac{\sqrt{3}\sigma_+}{D}, \qquad Q = \frac{\theta}{\sqrt{3}D}, \tag{1.25}$$

where

$$D = \sqrt{\frac{1}{1 + c_{\theta}} \frac{1}{b^2} + \frac{1}{3} \theta^2},$$
(1.26)

and a new time τ such that

$$\frac{d\tau}{dt} = D,\tag{1.27}$$

were employed. For ease of later analysis, we define new coupling parameters

$$\tilde{a}_2 = \frac{a_2}{\sqrt{a_1}}$$
, and $\bar{a}_3 = \frac{\tilde{a}_3}{\sqrt{3}c} = \frac{a_3}{\sqrt{3a_1}c}$. (1.28)

In which case equations (1.5)-(1.8) for the Einstein-aether Kantowski-Sachs geometry with a scalar field having a generalized exponential potential (1.20) results in a four dimensional system of autonomous differential equations and a first integral which depend on four parameters $(k, c, \tilde{a}_2, \bar{a}_3)$

$$\frac{d\Phi}{d\tau} = -\Phi\left(\sqrt{2}k\Psi + \chi\right),\tag{1.29}$$

$$\frac{d\Psi}{d\tau} = -\sqrt{3}Q\Psi + k\Phi\left(\sqrt{2}\Phi + \sqrt{\frac{3}{2}\tilde{a}_2Q} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\bar{a}_3cy\right) - \Psi\chi, \qquad (1.30)$$

$$\frac{dy}{d\tau} = -\sqrt{3}Qy - \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}c^2}(1-Q^2) + \frac{\sqrt{3}\bar{a}_3}{c}\Phi\left(\frac{1}{2}Q - \frac{1}{\sqrt{6}}k\Psi\right) - y\chi, \quad (1.31)$$

$$\frac{dQ}{d\tau} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} (1 - Q^2)(Qy - \tilde{q}), \tag{1.32}$$

$$f(\Phi, \Psi, y, Q) = 1 - c^2 y^2 - \Psi^2 - \Phi^2 = 0, \qquad (1.33)$$

where

$$\chi \equiv \frac{\dot{D}}{D^2} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} \Big(y(Q^2 - 1) - Q(\tilde{q} + 1) \Big), \tag{1.34}$$

and

$$\tilde{q} \equiv qQ^2 = 2c^2y^2 + 2\Psi^2 - \Phi^2 - \frac{3}{\sqrt{2}}k\tilde{a}_2\Phi\Psi - \frac{3}{2}\bar{a}_3cy\Phi.$$
(1.35)

The deceleration parameter q has the usual definition

$$q = -\left(3\frac{\dot{\theta}}{\theta^2} + 1\right). \tag{1.36}$$

Since the normalized variable $\Phi \geq 0$ by definition and given the constraint equation (1.33) the dynamics of the variables (Φ, Ψ, y) are restricted to the upper half of the unit sphere surface. In addition, we have

$$Q^{2} = \frac{1}{1 + \frac{3}{(1+c_{\theta})}\frac{1}{b^{2}\theta^{2}}} \le 1,$$
(1.37)

therefore, the phase space for the dynamical system is bounded and topologically equivalent to $S^{2+} \times [-1, 1]$.

2 Qualitative analysis of the dynamical system

2.1 The invariant sets

There are three invariant sets determined by the curvature. Orbits in the $Q^2 < 1$ invariant set are, in general, anisotropic and have positive spatial curvature, and therefore represent proper Kantowski-Sachs type models. Orbits that lie in the $Q = \pm 1$ invariant set represent anisotropic spatially homogeneous models having zero spatial curvature, and therefore comprise Bianchi type I models. Under the transformation

$$(\tau, \Phi, \Psi, y, Q, \tilde{a}_2, \bar{a}_3) \to (-\tau, \Phi, -\Psi, -y, -Q, -\tilde{a}_2, -\bar{a}_3),$$
 (2.1)

the dynamical system (1.29)-(1.32) is invariant. Therefore the dynamics in the Q = -1 invariant set can be easily determined from the dynamics in the Q = +1 set via a time reversal.

The $\Phi = 0$ invariant set represents massless scalar field models. The dynamics in this set are independent of the coupling between the aether field and the scalar field and have been completely described in [1].

2.2 The equilibrium points

The equilibria for the system (1.29)-(1.32) can be categorized according to the invariant set $(Q^2 < 1, Q = +1, \text{ or } Q = -1)$ in which they lie. The superscript indicates whether the point is in the Q = +1 or Q = -1 invariant set, with no superscript indicating the point is in neither. All of the equilibrium points of the dynamical system (1.29)-(1.32) are summarized in table 1.

2.2.1 Equilibrium points: $Q^2 < 1$ — Kantowski-Sachs

Kantowski-Sachs: vacuum equilibrium points — $KS1_{\delta}$. The equilibrium points

$$KS1_{\delta} = \left(0, 0, \frac{\delta}{c}, 2\delta c\right) \text{ where } \delta = \pm 1,$$

represent Kantowski-Sachs anisotropic vacuum solutions with a positive deceleration parameter. These points are in the phase space only if $c < \frac{1}{2}$, and therefore their existence is directly attributable to the existence of the aether field since general relativity has c = 1. The three curvature of the spatial hypersurface is $1 - 4c^2$ and the deceleration parameter is $q = (2c^2)^{-1}$ or $\tilde{q} = 2$. We note the following limits:

$$\lim_{c \to \frac{1}{2}^{-}} (KS1_{+}) = {}^{*}C^{+} \quad \text{and} \quad \lim_{c \to \frac{1}{2}^{-}} (KS1_{-}) = {}^{*}C^{-},$$

where ${}^*C^+$ and ${}^*C^-$ are special points on the circle of equilibria C^+ and C^- respectively. Calculating

$$\nabla f\big|_{KS1_{\delta}} = [0, 0, -2c\delta, 0],$$

indicates that we can eliminate the variable y locally near the equilibrium points via the substitution $y = \frac{\delta}{c}\sqrt{1 - \Phi^2 - \Psi^2}$. The eigenvalues for the resulting three dimensional dynamical system at the points $KS1_{\delta}$ are

$$\frac{\sqrt{3}\delta(1+2c^2)}{3c}, \frac{\sqrt{3}\delta(1-4c^2)}{3c}, \frac{\sqrt{3}\delta(1-4c^2)}{3c}.$$

Therefore, the point $KS1_+$ which represents an expanding model, is a local source when it is in the physical phase space; i.e., $c < \frac{1}{2}$. Correspondingly, the point $KS1_-$ which represents a collapsing model, is a local sink when it is in the physical phase space; i.e., $c < \frac{1}{2}$. [1]

Label	Values for (Φ, Ψ, y, Q)
$KS1_{\delta}$	$\left(0,0,rac{\delta}{c},2\delta c ight)$
$KS2_{\delta}^{\dagger}$	(Φ^*,Ψ^*,y^*,Q^*)
C^+	$\left(0,\cos(u),\frac{\sin(u)}{c},1 ight)$
C^{-}	$\left(0, -\cos(u), -\frac{\sin(u)}{c}, -1 ight)$
$BI1^+_{\delta}$	$\left(\frac{-2\sqrt{3}k\tilde{a}_{2}-\delta\bar{a}_{3}\sqrt{-\tilde{K}}}{k(4+\bar{a}_{3}^{2})}, \frac{\sqrt{6}}{2k}, \frac{-\sqrt{3}k\tilde{a}_{2}\bar{a}_{3}+2\delta\sqrt{-\tilde{K}}}{kc(4+\bar{a}_{3}^{2})}, 1\right)$
$BI1_{\delta}^{-}$	$\left(\frac{2\sqrt{3}k\tilde{a}_{2}+\delta\bar{a}_{3}\sqrt{-\tilde{K}}}{k(4+\bar{a}_{3}^{2})},-\frac{\sqrt{6}}{2k},\frac{\sqrt{3}k\tilde{a}_{2}\bar{a}_{3}-2\delta\sqrt{-\tilde{K}}}{kc(4+\bar{a}_{3}^{2})},-1\right)$
$BI2^+_{\delta}$	$\left(\frac{\sqrt{2}}{k\tilde{a}_2}\left(\Psi_+^{**}-\frac{\sqrt{2}}{\sqrt{3}}k\right), \Psi_+^{**}, \frac{\bar{a}_3}{\sqrt{2}ck\tilde{a}_2}\left(\Psi_+^{**}-\frac{\sqrt{2}}{\sqrt{3}}k\right), 1\right)$
$BI2^{\delta}$	$\left(\frac{\sqrt{2}}{k\tilde{a}_2}\left(\Psi^{**}+\frac{\sqrt{2}}{\sqrt{3}}k\right),-\Psi^{**},\frac{\bar{a}_3}{\sqrt{2}ck\tilde{a}_2}\left(\Psi^{**}+\frac{\sqrt{2}}{\sqrt{3}}k\right),-1\right)$

Table 1. Summary of all equilibrium points where $\delta = \pm 1$. The points $KS2_{\delta}$ are missing in the corresponding table in reference [1]. The non-isolated circles of equilibrium points, C^+ and C^- , are parameterized by $u \in (-\pi, \pi]$. We define the parameters $\widetilde{K} = 3k^2 \widetilde{a}_2^2 + (4 + \widetilde{a}_3^2) \left(\frac{3}{2} - k^2\right)$ and $\Psi_{\pm}^{**} = k \left(\sqrt{2}(\overline{a}_3^2 + 4) \pm \delta 2\widetilde{a}_2 \sqrt{\widetilde{K}}\right) \left(\sqrt{3}(\overline{a}_3^2 + 4 + 2k^2 \widetilde{a}_2^2)\right)^{-1}$. The points $BI2_{\delta}^{\pm}$ reduce to isotropic models denoted as FR_{δ}^{\pm} in [1] when $\overline{a}_3 = 0$. († See appendix A for explicit form of $KS2_{\delta}$ equilibrium points).

Kantowski-Sachs: scalar field equilibrium points — $KS2_{\delta}$. These equilibrium points are the Einstein-Aether generalizations of the scalar field Kantowski-Sachs equilibrium points found by Burd and Barrow in [22] for General Relativity. These points are also sometimes described as curvature scaling solutions [30]. Unfortunately, the equilibrium points $KS2_{\delta}$ are missing from the analysis in reference [1] and therefore we shall expound upon them further here.

Assuming there is no coupling between the scalar field and the aether field for the moment, $(\tilde{a}_2 = \bar{a}_3 = 0)$, the equilibrium points can be expressed as

$$KS2_{\delta} = \left(\frac{\sqrt{2c^2 + 1}\sqrt{8c^2k^2 - 2k^2 + 3}}{\sqrt{3}\Xi}, \frac{\delta\sqrt{6}k(2c^2 + 1)}{3\Xi}, \frac{\delta(2k^2 - 1)}{\Xi}, \frac{\delta(4k^2c^2 + 1)}{\Xi}\right)$$
(2.2)

where $(\Xi)^2 = 8c^4k^2 + 4c^2k^4 + 3c^2 + 1$. The deceleration parameter evaluated at this point is

$$q = \frac{2k^2 - 1}{4k^2c^2 + 1} \qquad \text{or} \qquad \tilde{q} = \frac{(2k^2 - 1)(4k^2c^2 + 1)}{(\Xi)^2}.$$
 (2.3)

These points exist within the physical phase space when $k^2 \leq \frac{1}{2}$ in which case the deceleration

parameter is also negative. We also note that when $(\tilde{a}_2 = \bar{a}_3 = 0)$ then

$$\begin{split} \lim_{k^2 \to \frac{1}{2}^-} (KS2_+) &= \lim_{k^2 \to \frac{1}{2}^-} \left({}^{**}C^+ \right), \\ \lim_{k^2 \to \frac{1}{2}^-} (KS2_-) &= \lim_{k^2 \to \frac{1}{2}^-} \left({}^{**}C^- \right), \end{split}$$

where ${}^{**}C^+$ and ${}^{**}C^-$ are special points on the circle of equilibria C^+ and C^- respectively. Given that

$$\nabla f \Big|_{KS2_s} \neq [0, 0, 0, 0]$$

we can eliminate the variable Φ locally near the equilibrium point. The corresponding eigenvalues of the Jacobian matrix, J, evaluated at the equilibrium point $KS2_{\delta}$, are roots to a rather complicated cubic polynomial whose explicit form is not particularly illuminating. However, given that the dimension of the system is 3, if the determinant of the matrix J is positive then there is at least one positive eigenvalue and the point is unstable. Further if the determinant of the matrix J is negative and the trace of the matrix J is positive then again there is at least one positive eigenvalue and again the point is unstable.

As we are not so much interested in the actual form of the determinant of J and the trace of J but in the sign of each, the analysis becomes manageable. We define

$$D \equiv \operatorname{Sign}(Det(J)) = \operatorname{Sign}\left(-\delta\left(2k^2 - 1\right)\right), \qquad (2.4)$$

$$T \equiv \operatorname{Sign}(Tr(J)) = \operatorname{Sign}\left(-\delta\left(8c^2k^2 - 2k^2 + 3\right)\right).$$
(2.5)

For the point $KS2_{-}$, we find D < 0 and T > 0 and therefore the point is unstable with a 1-dimensional stable manifold. For the point $KS2_{+}$, we observe D > 0 and T < 0 and therefore the point is also unstable with a 2-dimensional stable manifold. We can conclude that when there is no coupling between aether field and the scalar field, the points $KS2_{\delta}$ are unstable whenever they exist.

If we include a nontrivial coupling between the scalar field and aether field, ($\tilde{a}_2 \neq 0$ or $\bar{a}_3 \neq 0$), then these points continue to exist in the phase space for various values of the parameters, including regions in which $k^2 > \frac{1}{2}$. The explicit formulas for the equilibrium points in terms of the parameters are given in appendix A. Because of the two additional parameters, the calculation of the eigenvalues results in extremely complicated expressions which are not illuminating. Numerical experimentation can be employed to investigate the eigenvalues associated with these equilibrium points when $\tilde{a}_2 \neq 0$ and $\bar{a}_3 \neq 0$ (See figures 1 and 2). We observe that the equilibrium point $KS2_+$ can be either a saddle or a sink. Whereas, the equilibrium point $KS2_-$ can be either a source. Other behaviours may be possible, since the full set of possible parameter values has not been fully explored.

2.2.2 Equilibrium Points: Q = +1 — Bianchi I

Bianchi type I: massless scalar field equilibrium points — C^+ . In the Q = +1 invariant set, there exists a circle of non-isolated equilibria given by

$$C^+ = (0, \cos(u), c^{-1}\sin(u), 1)$$
 with $u \in (-\pi, \pi]$,

which lies on the boundary of the phase space with a deceleration parameter $q = \tilde{q} = 2$. Cosmologically, these points represent massless scalar field solutions and are analogues to the Kasner solutions. Since

$$\nabla f|_{C^+} = [0, -2\cos(u), -2\sin(u), 0]$$



Figure 1. The figures depicts stability for the $KS2_+$ equilibrium point. Red indicates regions where the point is a sink, while blue indicates regions where the point is a source. Green indicates regions where the point is a saddle. The black curve represents $\tilde{K} = 0$ and is included for reference only.

we can eliminate the variable y locally at the equilibrium point. The corresponding eigenvalues for the resulting three dimensional system are

$$0, \sqrt{3} - \sqrt{2}k\cos(u), \frac{2\sqrt{3}(2c - |\sin(u)|)}{3c}.$$

The first two eigenvalues correspond to the dynamics within the Q = 1 invariant set, with the zero eigenvalue indicating here the non-isolated nature of the set of equilibria. In the full three-dimensional phase space the local stability of the non-isolated line of equilibria depends on parameters k and c and is independent of the coupling parameters \tilde{a}_2 and \bar{a}_3 . Full details



Figure 2. The figures depicts stability for the $KS2_{-}$ equilibrium point. Red indicates regions where the point is a sink, while blue indicates regions where the point is a source. Green indicates regions where the point is a saddle. The black curve represents $\tilde{K} = 0$ and is included for reference only.

of the stability for this line of equilibria is given in [1]. If $c > \frac{1}{2}$ and $k^2 < \frac{3}{2}$ then C^+ is a source. If $4c^2 + \frac{3}{2k^2} < 1$, then a part of C^+ is a source and there are two sections of C^+ that are sinks which are surrounded by saddles. For the remainder of parameter space, a part of C^+ will always act as a source and a part will be a saddle. In the two-dimensional Q = 1 invariant set the asymptotic behaviour depends only on the value of k^2 . Therefore, in the Q = 1 invariant set, C^+ acts as a source if $k^2 < \frac{3}{2}$ and if $k^2 > \frac{3}{2}$ then part of C^+ is a source and part is a sink.

Bianchi type I: coupling dominated equilibrium points (type 1) — $BI1^+_{\delta}$. The two points

$$BI1^{+}_{\delta} = (\Phi_{eq}, \Psi_{eq}, y_{eq}, 1) = \left(\frac{-2\sqrt{3}k\tilde{a}_{2} - \delta\bar{a}_{3}\sqrt{-\tilde{K}}}{k(4 + \bar{a}_{3}^{2})}, \frac{\sqrt{6}}{2k}, \frac{-\sqrt{3}k\tilde{a}_{2}\bar{a}_{3} + 2\delta\sqrt{-\tilde{K}}}{kc(4 + \bar{a}_{3}^{2})}, 1\right) \quad (2.6)$$

where $\delta = \pm 1$, represent anisotropic expanding Bianchi type I models with a scalar field. The adjusted parameter \tilde{K} is defined as

$$\tilde{K} = 3k^2 \tilde{a}_2^2 + \left(4 + \bar{a}_3^2\right) \left(\frac{3}{2} - k^2\right) = K + \bar{a}_3^2 \left(\frac{3}{2} - k^2\right)$$
(2.7)

where $K = 6 + 3k^2\tilde{a}_2^2 - 4k^2$ is the parameter used in [1] when there was no shear coupling. Since $q = \tilde{q} = 2$ at these equilibrium points these points represent non-inflationary solutions. The solutions represented by these equilibrium points do not exist when there is no coupling between the scalar field and aether field since $\lim_{(\tilde{a}_2, \tilde{a}_3) \to (0,0)} (BI1^+_{\delta})$ approaches two isolated points on the circle of equilibria C^+ .

The equilibrium points $BI1^+_{\delta}$ exist in the physical phase space when $\tilde{K} < 0$ and $\Phi_{eq} \ge 0$ which corresponds to the parameter values

$$k^{2} \ge \frac{3}{2}$$
, and $-\sqrt{\left(\bar{a}_{3}^{2}+4\right)\left(\frac{1}{3}-\frac{1}{2k^{2}}\right)} < \tilde{a}_{2} < -\delta\bar{a}_{3}\sqrt{\frac{1}{3}-\frac{1}{2k^{2}}}$. (2.8)

See figure 3 which summarizes graphically the existence of $BI1^+_{\delta}$. We note the limiting case:

$$\lim_{\tilde{K}\to 0^-} \left(BI1^+_{\delta}\right) = \lim_{\tilde{K}\to 0^+} \left(BI2^+_{\delta}\right).$$
(2.9)

Since

$$\nabla f|_{BI1^+_{\delta}} = [-2\Phi_{eq}, -2\Psi_{eq}, -2c^2 y_{eq}, 0], \qquad (2.10)$$

the variable Ψ can be eliminated locally near each of the equilibrium points. The eigenvalues for the resulting three dimensional system in the variables Φ, y, Q at the points $BI1^+_{\delta}$ in terms of y_{eq} are

$$\lambda_{1,2} = \text{Roots of } \left(\lambda^2 - \frac{\tilde{K}}{4k^2(\bar{a}_3^2 + 4)} \left(4\sqrt{3}\tilde{a}_2\bar{a}_3ck^2y_{eq} + 6k^2\tilde{a}_2^2 - \bar{a}_3^2(3 - 2k^2)\right)\right), (2.11)$$
$$\lambda_3 = -\frac{2}{\sqrt{3}}(y_{eq} - 2). \tag{2.12}$$

By simplifying the expression for the first two eigenvalues we can show that the result is a pair of pure imaginary eigenvalues since $\tilde{K} < 0$;

$$\lambda_{1,2} = \pm i \sqrt{\frac{-\tilde{K}}{2k^2(\bar{a}_3^2+4)^2}} \left((12k^2 \tilde{a}_2^2 - \bar{a}_3^2 \tilde{K}) + \operatorname{sgn}(\tilde{a}_2 \bar{a}_3) \delta \sqrt{(12k^2 \tilde{a}_2^2 - \bar{a}_3^2 \tilde{K})^2 - \Gamma^2} \right)$$
(2.13)

where $\operatorname{sgn}(x) = \frac{x}{|x|}$ and

$$\Gamma^{2} = \frac{1}{4} (\bar{a}_{3}^{2} + 4)^{2} \left(\bar{a}_{3}^{2} (2k^{2} - 3) - 6k^{2} \tilde{a}_{2}^{2} \right)^{2}.$$
(2.14)

$$\begin{split} & \bar{a}_3 \qquad c^2 \qquad k^2 \qquad \tilde{a}_2 \\ \textbf{B11}^+_+ \\ & \bar{a}_3 > 0 \qquad 0 < c^2 < \frac{\bar{a}_3^2}{4(\bar{a}_3^2 + 4)} \qquad \frac{3}{2(1 - 4c^2)} < k^2 < (k_1^*)^2 \qquad D_{1-}^* < \tilde{a}_2 < \tilde{K}_-^* \\ & \bar{a}_3 > 0 \qquad 0 < c^2 < \frac{\bar{a}_3^2}{4(\bar{a}_3^2 + 4)} \qquad (k_1^*)^2 < k^2 < \infty \qquad \tilde{K}_-^* < \tilde{a}_2 < \tilde{K}_-^* \\ & \bar{a}_3 > 0 \qquad \frac{\bar{a}_3^2}{4(\bar{a}_3^2 + 4)} < c^2 < \frac{1}{4} \qquad \frac{3}{2(1 - 4c^2)} < k^2 < \infty \qquad D_{1-}^* < \tilde{a}_2 < \tilde{K}_-^* \\ & \bar{a}_3 = 0 \qquad 0 < c^2 < \frac{1}{4} \qquad \frac{3}{2(1 - 4c^2)} < k^2 < \infty \qquad D_{1-}^* < \tilde{a}_2 < \tilde{K}_+^* \\ \\ & \textbf{B11}_-^* \\ & \textbf{B11}_-^* \\ & \bar{a}_3 > 0 \qquad 0 < c^2 < \frac{\bar{a}_3^2}{4(\bar{a}_3^2 + 4)} \qquad (k_1^*)^2 < k^2 < \infty \qquad \tilde{K}_-^* < \tilde{a}_2 < D_{1-}^* \\ & \tilde{K}_+^* = \pm |\bar{a}_3| \sqrt{\frac{1}{3} - \frac{1}{2k^2}} \qquad \text{and} \qquad D_{1\pm}^* = -\frac{2c\bar{a}_3}{\sqrt{3}} \pm \frac{2}{\sqrt{3}} \sqrt{1 - 4c^2 - \frac{3}{2k^2}} \end{split}$$

Table 2. Regions of the parameter space where the equilibrium point $BI1^+_{\delta}$ is an asymptotically stable center.

The eigenspace associated with the pair of imaginary eigenvalues lies in the Q = 1 invariant set. The third eigenvalue is negative when $y_{eq} > 2$. When this occurs, there exists periodic orbits in the neighborhood of $BI1^+_{\delta}$ that are asymptotically stable, and the point is called a stable center. The point $BI1^+_{\pm}$ is a stable center if

$$\tilde{a}_2 \bar{a}_3 < \frac{-2c(\bar{a}_3^2 + 4)}{\sqrt{3}} \quad \text{or} \quad 4c^2 + \frac{3}{2k^2} + \left(\frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}\tilde{a}_2 + c\bar{a}_3\right)^2 < 1,$$
(2.15)

while the point $BI1^+_{-}$ is an asymptotically stable center if

$$\tilde{a}_2 \bar{a}_3 < \frac{-2c(\bar{a}_3^2 + 4)}{\sqrt{3}} \quad \text{and} \quad 4c^2 + \frac{3}{2k^2} + \left(\frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}\tilde{a}_2 + c\bar{a}_3\right)^2 > 1.$$
(2.16)

Careful analysis of these two curves within the region of existence yields regions of parameter space in which the points $BI1^+_{\delta}$ are asymptotically stable centers. These regions are described in table 2.

We note that when $BI1^+_{-}$ is asymptotically stable, so is $BI1^+_{+}$. This indicates that we can have two asymptotically stable centers within the Q = 1 invariant set. There exists ranges of parameter values for which there exists asymptotically stable periodic orbit(s) in a local neighbourhood of $BI1^+_{\delta}$ in the full phase space. See [1] for particular details on the existence of periodic orbits in the case $\bar{a}_3 = 0$.

Bianchi type I: scalar field equilibrium points (type 2) — $BI2^+_{\delta}$. The two points $BI2^+_{\delta}$ can be expressed as

$$BI2^{+}_{\delta} = (\Phi_{eq}, \Psi_{eq}, y_{eq}, 1) = \left(\frac{\sqrt{2}}{k\tilde{a}_{2}} \left(\Psi_{eq} - \frac{\sqrt{2}}{\sqrt{3}}k\right), \Psi_{eq}, \frac{\bar{a}_{3}}{\sqrt{2}ck\tilde{a}_{2}} \left(\Psi_{eq} - \frac{\sqrt{2}}{\sqrt{3}}k\right), 1\right) \quad (2.17)$$

where $\delta = \pm 1$ and

$$\Psi_{eq} = \frac{k\left(\sqrt{2}(\bar{a}_3^2 + 4) + \delta 2\tilde{a}_2\sqrt{\widetilde{K}}\right)}{\sqrt{3}(\bar{a}_3^2 + 4 + 2k^2\tilde{a}_2^2)}.$$
(2.18)

These equilibrium points represent anisotropic Bianchi type I models with a scalar field. These two points exist even when there is no coupling between the scalar field and the aether field and in that particular case represent the traditional isotropic power-law inflationary solutions when $k^2 < \frac{1}{2}$. If $\bar{a}_3 = 0$, then $BI2^+_{\delta}$ is the isotropic point FR^+_{δ} found in [1].

The points $BI2^+_{\delta}$ exist in the physical phase space if $\tilde{K} > 0$ and $\Phi_{eq} \ge 0$. The point $BI2^+_{-}$ exists in the physical phase space for parameter values

$$k^2 \ge \frac{3}{2}$$
 and $\tilde{a}_2 < -\sqrt{\left(\bar{a}_3^2 + 4\right)\left(\frac{1}{3} - \frac{1}{2k^2}\right)}$. (2.19)

On the other hand, the point $BI2^+_+$ exists in the physical phase space if

$$k^2 \le \frac{3}{2} \qquad \text{or} \tag{2.20}$$

$$k^2 \ge \frac{3}{2}$$
 and $\tilde{a}_2 < -\sqrt{\left(\bar{a}_3^2 + 4\right)\left(\frac{1}{3} - \frac{1}{2k^2}\right)}$. (2.21)

See figure 3 which summarizes graphically the existence of $BI1^+_{\delta}$ and $BI2^+_{\delta}$. Since

$$\nabla f|_{BI2^+_{\delta}} = [-2\Phi_{eq}, -2\Psi_{eq}, -2c^2 y_{eq}, 0], \qquad (2.22)$$

the variable Φ can be eliminated locally at the equilibrium points. The eigenvalues for the resulting three dimensional system in the variables Ψ, y, Q at the points $BI2^+_{\delta}$ in terms of Ψ_{eq} are

$$\lambda_{1,2} = \sqrt{2}k \left(\Psi_{eq} - \frac{3}{\sqrt{6}k}\right), \quad \lambda_3 = 2\sqrt{2}k \left(\Psi_{eq} - \frac{1}{\sqrt{6}k}\right) - \sqrt{\frac{2}{3}} \frac{\bar{a}_3}{ck\tilde{a}_2} \left(\Psi_{eq} - \frac{2k}{\sqrt{6}}\right) \quad (2.23)$$

The pair of repeated eigenvalues,

$$\lambda_{1,2} = \frac{2}{\sqrt{3}(2k^2\tilde{a}_2^2 + \bar{a}_3^2 + 4)} \left(-\tilde{K} + \delta \text{sgn}(\tilde{a}_2) \sqrt{\tilde{K}^2 + \tilde{K}(2k^2\tilde{a}_2^2 + \bar{a}_3^2 + 4)\left(k^2 - \frac{3}{2}\right)} \right),\tag{2.24}$$

correspond to the eigen-directions spanning the Q = +1 invariant set. It is straightforward to conclude that the two eigenvalues are positive when $BI2^+_-$ exists. Similarly, the two eigenvalues are negative when $BI2^+_+$ exists. Therefore, for dynamics restricted to the Q = 1invariant set, $BI2^+_-$ is unstable and $BI2^+_+$ is stable whenever they exist.



Figure 3. The shaded areas of the figure indicate the portion of the parameter space (k, \tilde{a}_2) in which the equilibrium points $BI1^+_{\delta}$ and $BI2^+_{\delta}$ exist in the physical phase space for $\bar{a}_3 > 0$. The dashed line and its symmetric continuance below the horizontal axis marks the location of $\tilde{K} = 0$ curve. The vertical line is $k^2 = 3/2$. The darker regions indicate parameter values in which two points coexist, while blank regions indicate parameter values in which neither of these points exist. If $\bar{a}_3 \to 0^+$ then the inner parabolic shaped curve becomes smaller and approaches the curve $\tilde{a}_2 = 0$ in which case there is no light red portion of the graph. If $\bar{a}_3 < 0$, then the only change is in the light red region is $BI1^+_{-} \to BI1^+_{+}$.

The third eigenvalue indicates stability with respect to changes in the curvature, i.e, away from the Q = 1 invariant set. The third eigenvalue can be expressed as a rather complicated expression involving all the parameters

$$\lambda_3 = \frac{1}{3\sqrt{3}c^2(2k^2\tilde{a}_2^2 + \bar{a}_3^2 + 4)} \left(\beta + \delta \operatorname{sgn}(\alpha)\sqrt{\beta^2 + \Delta}\right)$$
(2.25)

where

$$\alpha = 2\sqrt{3}ck^2\tilde{a}_2 - \bar{a}_3 \tag{2.26}$$

$$\beta = -12c^2k^2 \left(\left(\tilde{a}_2 - \frac{\sqrt{3}}{6c} \bar{a}_3 \right)^2 - \left(1 - \frac{1}{2k^2} \right) \left(\bar{a}_3^2 + 4 \right) - \frac{\bar{a}_3^2}{12c^2} \right)$$
(2.27)

$$\Delta = 72c^4k^2 \left(2k^2\tilde{a}_2^2 + \bar{a}_3^2 + 4\right) \left(6k^2 - 1\right) \left(\left(\tilde{a}_2 - \frac{2\sqrt{3}}{3c(6k^2 - 1)}\bar{a}_3\right)^2 - \frac{(2k^2 - 1)^2}{2k^2(6k^2 - 1)} \left(\bar{a}_3^2 + 4\right) - \frac{(2k^2 - 1)^2}{2k^2c^2(6k^2 - 1)^2}\bar{a}_3^2 \right)$$
(2.28)

Each of the three expressions $\alpha = 0$, $\beta = 0$ and $\Delta = 0$ traces a two parameter (\bar{a}_3, c) family of curves in the (k, \tilde{a}_2) parameter space and consequently determines the sign of λ_3 .

For the equilibrium point $BI2_{-}^{+}$, it can be shown that $\lambda_3 > 0$ whenever this point exists in the phase space. Therefore, this point is a source whenever it exists.

For the equilibrium point $BI2^+_+$, it can be shown that $\lambda_3 < 0$ in the parameter regions described in table 3 and hence the point is asymptotically stable. In all other regions, $\lambda_3 > 0$ and the point becomes a saddle with a one dimensional unstable manifold. The same tabular

\bar{a}_3	c^2	k^2	$ ilde{a}_2$			
$\mathbf{BI2}_{+}^{+} \qquad (\delta = +1)$						
$\bar{a}_3 > 0$	$0 < c^2 < 1$	$0 < k^2 \le \frac{1}{6}$	$-\infty < \tilde{a}_2 < \infty$			
		$\frac{1}{6} < k^2 < \infty$	$-\infty < \tilde{a}_2 < D^*_{2-}$			
$\bar{a}_3 = 0$	$0 < c^2 < 1$	$0 < k^2 \le \frac{1}{6}$	$-\infty < \tilde{a}_2 < \infty$			
		$\tfrac{1}{6} < k^2 < \infty$	$-\infty < \tilde{a}_2 < D^*_{2-}$			
$\bar{a}_3 < 0$	$\frac{\bar{a}_3^2}{\bar{a}_3^2 + 4} < c^2 < 1$	$0 < k^2 < (k_2^*)^2$	$-\infty < \tilde{a}_2 < \infty$			
		$(k_2^*)^2 \le k^2 < \tfrac{1}{6}$	$-\infty < \tilde{a}_2 < D^*_{2-}$			
		$(k_2^*)^2 \le k^2 < \frac{1}{6}$	$D_{2+}^* < \tilde{a}_2 < \infty$			
		$\tfrac{1}{6} \le k^2 < \infty$	$-\infty < \tilde{a}_2 < D^*_{2-}$			
$\bar{a}_{3} < 0$	$0 < c^2 \le \frac{\bar{a}_3^2}{\bar{a}_3^2 + 4}$	$0 < k^2 < \frac{1}{6}$	$-\infty < \tilde{a}_2 < D_{2-}^*$			
		$0 < k^2 < \frac{1}{6}$	$D_{2+}^* < \tilde{a}_2 < \infty$			
		$\tfrac{1}{6} \leq k^2 < \infty$	$-\infty < \tilde{a}_2 < D^*_{2-}$			
$(k_2^*)^2 = \frac{1}{6c^2} \left(c^2 - \frac{1}{6c^2} \right)^2 = \frac{1}{6c^2} \left(c^2 - \frac{1}{6c^2} \right)^2 \left(c^2 -$	$(k_2^*)^2 = \frac{1}{6c^2} \left(c^2 - \frac{\bar{a}_3^2}{\bar{a}_3^2 + 4} \right)$ and $D_{2\pm}^* = \frac{4\sqrt{3}k\bar{a}_3 \pm 3\sqrt{2}(2k^2 - 1)\sqrt{\bar{a}_3^2 + (6k^2 - 1)(\bar{a}_3^2 + 4k^2)}}{6kc(6k^2 - 1)}$					

Table 3. Regions of the (k, \tilde{a}_2) parameter space where the equilibrium point $BI2^+_{-}$ is stable.

information is represented graphically in figures 4 and 5. We note, if

$$\bar{a}_3 < 0, \qquad 0 < c^2 < \frac{\bar{a}_3^2}{(\bar{a}_3^2 + 4)}$$
 (2.29)

then there exists a disconnected region of parameter space in which $\lambda_3 < 0$. See the leftbottom graph in figure 5.

2.3 Power-law inflation

The addition of a nontrivial coupling between the scalar field and the aether field changes the parameter requirements for power-law inflation to occur. The only equilibrium point present in the constructed model for which power-law inflation could occur is the point $BI2^+_+$. At this point

$$\tilde{q}|_{BI2^+_+} = \sqrt{6}k\Psi_{eq} - 1,$$
 (2.30)

which must be negative during inflation. Further, at this equilibrium point we can simplify equation (1.36) and integrate

$$\frac{\dot{\theta}}{\theta^2} = -\frac{\sqrt{6}k}{3}\Psi_{eq} \Rightarrow \theta = \frac{3}{\sqrt{6}k\Psi_{eq}}(t-t_0)^{-1}, \qquad (2.31)$$



Figure 4. A wide and a vertically scaled view of stability for the equilibrium point $BI2^+_+$ when $\bar{a}_3 \geq 0$. The blue and green regions indicate values in the (k, \tilde{a}_2) parameter space in which the equilibrium point $BI2^+_+$ is an attractor. Yellow and green areas indicate parameter values where the models are expanding with q < 0, that is inflationary. Green areas yield parameter values in which there is a stable inflationary attractor. The values of \bar{a}_3 and c were chosen to highlight the shapes of

where we see that $\Psi_{eq} > 0$ else the model is contracting. We observe that $\Psi_{eq} > 0$ corresponds to the parameter constraint $\tilde{a}_2 > -\frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}\sqrt{\bar{a}_3^2 + 4}$. Therefore this equilibrium point represents an expanding power-law inflationary solution if

$$0 < \sqrt{6}k\Psi_{eq} < 1.$$
 (2.32)

These constraints correspond to the parameter region bounded between

the different regions.

$$k^{2} \leq \frac{1}{6}, \qquad -\sqrt{\frac{\bar{a}_{3}^{2}+4}{3}} < \tilde{a}_{2} < \infty$$

$$k^{2} > \frac{1}{6}, \qquad -\sqrt{\frac{\bar{a}_{3}^{2}+4}{3}} < \tilde{a}_{2} < -\frac{(2k^{2}-1)}{2k^{2}}\sqrt{\frac{(\bar{a}_{3}^{2}+4)2k^{2}}{(6k^{2}-1)}}.$$

$$(2.33)$$



Figure 5. A wide and a vertically scaled view of stability for the equilibrium point $BI2^+_+$ when $\bar{a}_3 < 0$. The blue and green regions indicate values in the (k, \tilde{a}_2) parameter space in which the equilibrium point $BI2^+_+$ is an attractor. Yellow and green areas indicate parameter values where the models are expanding with q < 0, that is inflationary. Green areas yield parameter values in which there is a stable inflationary attractor. The values of \bar{a}_3 and c were chosen to highlight the shapes of the different regions.

If $\bar{a}_3 = 0$ then we obtain the lower bound for power-law inflation to occur to be $\tilde{a}_2 > -2/\sqrt{3}$. This corrects an incorrect observation in [1] which concluded that the lower bound for inflation is $\tilde{a}_2 = -\infty$, indeed, inflation cannot occur if $\tilde{a}_2 < -2/\sqrt{3}$. See green shaded regions in figures 4 and 5.

3 Numerical analysis and qualitative summary

We confirm the qualitative analysis of the previous section with a few numerical calculations. The values of the parameters are selected to highlight the different asymptotic behaviours that are possible.

3.1 Bianchi I (Q = 1) invariant set

In the Q = 1 invariant set the dynamics are dominated by the different possible points: C^+ , $BI1^+_{\delta}$ and $BI2^+_{\delta}$. While $BI1^+_{\delta}$ and $BI2^+_{\delta}$ cannot occur simultaneously, it is possible for both $BI1^+_{-}$ and $BI1^+_{+}$ (or $BI2^+_{-}$ and $BI2^+_{+}$) to be simultaneously present. See figures 6 and 7. Note for certain values of the parameters, neither $BI1^+_{\delta}$ nor $BI2^+_{\delta}$ exist, in which case the phase portrait evolves from a subset of points on C^+ to different subset of points on C^+ . A figure has not been included.

In the Bianchi I invariant set, if $k^2 < \frac{3}{2}$ then the unique future asymptotic state is represented by the equilibrium point $BI2^+_+$. If $k^2 > \frac{3}{2}$ and $\tilde{a}_2 < \tilde{K}_-$ then the future asymptotic state is either $BI2^+_+$ or a subset of points in C^+ . In addition to the asymptotically stable points, families of periodic orbits are possible. Define

$$\tilde{K}_{\pm} = \pm \sqrt{(\bar{a}_3^2 + 4)\left(\frac{1}{3} - \frac{1}{2k^2}\right)}, \qquad \tilde{\tilde{K}}_{\pm} = \pm |\bar{a}_3| \sqrt{\left(\frac{1}{3} - \frac{1}{2k^2}\right)}.$$
(3.1)

If $k^2 > \frac{3}{2}$ and $\tilde{K}_- < \tilde{a}_2 < \tilde{\tilde{K}}_-$ then there are two different families of periodic orbits within the Bianchi I invariant set. If $k^2 > \frac{3}{2}$ and $\tilde{\tilde{K}}_- < \tilde{a}_2 < \tilde{\tilde{K}}_+$ then there is a single family of periodic orbits (See figures 6 and 7).

3.2 Kantowski-Sachs $(Q^2 < 1)$ invariant set

In the three dimensional phase space $Q^2 < 1$, the number of equilibrium points depends on the value of parameters. When $c < \frac{1}{2}$ then there are at least two equilibrium points and as many as four different equilibrium points are possible. When $c > \frac{1}{2}$ then there can be two equilibrium points and it is possible that there are none. Different three dimensional phase portraits can be constructed, but their value is limited. We include one figure that illustrates a situation in which there are two attractors in the three dimensional phase space. The asymptotic stable attractors are the equilibrium points $KS2_+$ and $KS1_-$, the source is $KS1_+$, while the point $KS2_-$ is a saddle (see figure 8). There are other attractors in the Q = 1 invariant set that are not shown.

In the Kantowski-Sachs invariant set, the future asymptotic attractor can be one of the following C^+ , $BI1^+_+$, $BI1^+_-$, $BI2^+_+$, $KS1_-$, and $KS2_+$. Indeed, it is also possible for one or two families of asymptotically stable periodic orbits. The point $BI2^+_+$ is the point of most interest as this equilibrium point represents an expanding inflationary solution for appropriate values of the parameters. For different parameter values, this equilibrium point is also asymptotically stable. We are of course interested in when this point represents an asymptotically stable expanding inflationary solution. The green areas in figures 4 and 5 represent possible parameter values for which such a solution exists.

4 Concluding remarks

Investigating Einstein-Aether theories allows us to consider non-trivial couplings between the aether field and the scalar field which are not possible in General Relativity. Such couplings can result in altered stabilities of the late-time power-law inflationary solution, however, in [1], it was found that the presence of a non-trivial coupling between the expansion of the scalar and aether fields preserved the stability of the isotropic power-law inflationary solution. This stability was shown to persist even for values of the scalar field potential parameter $k^2 > \frac{1}{2}$ as long as an appropriate value for the expansion couple parameter a_2 is chosen.



Figure 6. The figures depict phase portraits of typical behaviours when $\bar{a}_3 > 0$ and $\bar{a}_3 < 0$ for the $BI1^+_{\delta}$ equilibrium points in the Q = 1 invariant set. The solid circles represent the C^+ circle of equilibrium points, while an asterisk represents the points $BI1^+_{\delta}$. Note how \bar{a}_3 tilts the figures.

In this paper, we coupled the scalar field directly to the aether field via both its expansion and shear, and found changes in the future asymptotic dynamics resulting from the coupling of the scalar field to the shear of the aether field. Chiefly, we observed that the previously isotropic expansionary power-law inflationary attractor became anisotropic and is represented here by the equilibrium point $BI2^+_+$. In accordance with [1], the solution corresponding to this equilibrium point is only isotropic in the absence of shear coupling $(a_3 = 0)$. Further, the stability of the expansionary power-law inflationary solution changes depending on the value of a_3 , with the solution (when it exists) being stable for values of $a_3 > 0$ (see green regions in figures 4), and unstable for values of $a_3 < 0$ (see yellow regions in figures 5), for some values of the parameters (k, a_2) .

We also note that the non-trivial coupling between the scalar field and aether field brings into existence, for a particular range of parameter values, a family of asymptotically stable periodic orbits. The solutions represented by these orbits are spatially homogeneous but anisotropic, and have a scalar field with an exponential potential. It is also worth noting that these families of solutions do not exist in the absence of a coupling between the scalar and aether fields.



Figure 7. The figures depict phase portraits of typical behaviours when $\bar{a}_3 > 0$ and $\bar{a}_3 < 0$ for the $BI2^+_{\delta}$ equilibrium points in the Q = 1 invariant set. The solid circles represent the C^+ circle of equilibrium points, while solid diamonds represent the points $BI2^+_{\delta}$. Note how \bar{a}_3 tilts the figures.

Evidently, violating the boost part of the Lorentz invariance within both the geometry and matter sectors of a gravitational theory results in dynamics different from what one would expect. In this investigation, we sought not only to further illuminate that assertion, but to specify which qualitative changes become possible with the particular Lorentz noninvariances we have prescribed. Changes we found as a result of these violations include: the existence of future asymptotic states that are periodic in nature, expansionary power-law inflationary solutions that are not future asymptotically stable, and expansionary power-law inflationary solutions that are not necessarily isotropic.

Acknowledgments

SM acknowledges the support of NSERC through an Undergraduate Student Research Award (USRA). RvdH and DW were supported by the St. Francis Xavier University Council on Research.



Figure 8. The figures depicts a three-dimensional phase portrait and its two-dimensional projection. The equilibrium points $KS2_{-}$ and $KS2_{+}$ are indicated by solid circles. The asterisk represent the $BI1^{+}_{\delta}$ and $BI1^{-}_{\delta}$ equilibrium points, while the circle of equilibrium points in the right-hand figure represent C^{-} and C^{+} . The figures illustrates how the equilibrium point $KS2_{+}$ is an asymptotically stable equilibrium point.

A The $KS2_{\delta}$ equilibrium points

The Kantowski-Sachs points $KS2_{\delta}$ have the general form

$$[\Phi,\Psi,y,Q] = [\Phi^*,\Psi^*,y^*,Q^*]$$

where Ψ^* and Q^* are the following linear combinations of Φ^* and y^* .

$$\Psi^* = \frac{-\sqrt{6}k(\sqrt{3}\tilde{a}_2 + 2\bar{a}_3c)}{6(2k^2 - 1)}\Phi^* + \frac{\sqrt{6}k(2c^2 + 1)}{3(2k^2 - 1)}y^*$$
(A.1)

$$Q^* = \frac{-k^2(\sqrt{3}\tilde{a}_2 + 2\bar{a}_3c)}{(2k^2 - 1)}\Phi^* + \frac{(4c^2k^2 + 1)}{(2k^2 - 1)}y^*$$
(A.2)

The above system becomes singular when $k^2 = \frac{1}{2}$. The value of y^* and Φ^* can be determined via the following coupled expressions where $\delta = \pm 1$,

$$\Phi^* = \sqrt{\frac{2A_1C_2}{B_1B_2 - 2A_1A_2 - \delta B_2\sqrt{D_1}}}$$
(A.3)

$$y^* = \frac{-B_1 + \delta \sqrt{D_1}}{2A_1} \Phi^*$$
 (A.4)

where the values of A_i, B_i, C_i, D_i are functions of the various parameters $(c, k, \tilde{a}_2, \bar{a}_3)$ in the model

$$A_{1} = -12(2c^{2} + 1) \left(8c^{2}k^{2} - 2k^{2} + 3\right)$$

$$B_{1} = 6c \left(32c^{2}k^{2} + 12k^{4} - 8k^{2} + 9\right) \bar{a}_{3} + 24\sqrt{3} \left(6c^{2}k^{2} + c^{2} + 2\right) \tilde{a}_{2}k^{2}$$

$$C_{1} = -48c^{2}k^{2}\bar{a}_{3}^{2} - 12\sqrt{3}c \left(6k^{2} + 1\right) k^{2}\bar{a}_{3}\tilde{a}_{2} - 18k^{2} \left(6k^{2} - 1\right) \tilde{a}_{2}^{2} + 36 \left(2k^{2} - 1\right)^{2}$$

$$D_{1} = (B_{1})^{2} - 4A_{1}C_{1}$$

$$\begin{aligned} A_2 &= -4c^2k^2 \left(4c^2k^2+1\right) \bar{a}_3^2 - 2\sqrt{3} \left(8c^4k^2+12c^2k^4+4c^2k^2+3c^2+2k^2+2\right) ck^2 \bar{a}_3 \tilde{a}_2 \\ &\quad -3k^2 \left(8k^2c^4+12c^2k^4+3c^2+2k^2+1\right) \tilde{a}_2^2 + 6 \left(2k^2-1\right) \left(8k^2c^4+4c^2k^4+3c^2+1\right) \\ B_2 &= c \left(80c^4k^4+24c^2k^6-24c^4k^2-12c^2k^4+34c^2k^2+4k^4-9c^2+2k^2\right) \bar{a}_3 \\ &\quad +4\sqrt{3} \left(8k^2c^6+12c^4k^4+4c^4k^2+3c^4+6c^2k^2+2c^2+1\right) k^2 \tilde{a}_2 \\ C_2 &= -2(2k^2-1)(2c^2+1) \left(8c^2k^2-2k^2+3\right) \end{aligned}$$

This pair of points only exist provided $D_1 \ge 0$ and equation (A.3) yields a real root for Φ^* . The equilibrium point is within the physical phase-space provided $(Q^*)^2 \le 1$.

References

- R.J. Van Den Hoogen, A.A. Coley, B. Alhulaimi, S. Mohandas, E. Knighton and S. O'Neil, Kantowski-Sachs Einstein-aether scalar field cosmological models, JCAP 11 (2018) 017 [arXiv:1809.01458] [INSPIRE].
- S. Liberati, Tests of Lorentz invariance: a 2013 update, Class. Quant. Grav. 30 (2013) 133001 [arXiv:1304.5795] [INSPIRE].
- [3] T. Jacobson, Einstein-aether gravity: a status report, arXiv:0801.1547 [INSPIRE].
- [4] J. Alfaro, H.A. Morales-Tecotl and L.F. Urrutia, Loop quantum gravity and light propagation, Phys. Rev. D 65 (2002) 103509 [hep-th/0108061] [INSPIRE].
- [5] R. Gambini and J. Pullin, Nonstandard optics from quantum space-time, Phys. Rev. D 59 (1999) 124021 [gr-qc/9809038] [INSPIRE].
- [6] M. Visser, Lorentz symmetry breaking as a quantum field theory regulator, Phys. Rev. D 80 (2009) 025011 [arXiv:0902.0590] [INSPIRE].
- T. Jacobson and D. Mattingly, Gravity with a dynamical preferred frame, Phys. Rev. D 64 (2001) 024028 [gr-qc/0007031] [INSPIRE].
- [8] T. Jacobson and D. Mattingly, Einstein-aether waves, Phys. Rev. D 70 (2004) 024003
 [gr-qc/0402005] [INSPIRE].
- [9] T. Jacobson, Extended Hořava gravity and Einstein-aether theory, Phys. Rev. D 81 (2010) 101502 [Erratum ibid. 82 (2010) 129901] [arXiv:1001.4823] [INSPIRE].
- [10] T. Jacobson, Extended Hořava gravity and Einstein-aether theory, Phys. Rev. D 81 (2010) 101502 [Erratum ibid. 82 (2010) 129901] [arXiv:1001.4823] [INSPIRE].
- [11] D. Garfinkle, C. Eling and T. Jacobson, Numerical simulations of gravitational collapse in Einstein-aether theory, Phys. Rev. D 76 (2007) 024003 [gr-qc/0703093] [INSPIRE].
- [12] D. Garfinkle and T. Jacobson, A positive energy theorem for Einstein-aether and Hořava gravity, Phys. Rev. Lett. 107 (2011) 191102 [arXiv:1108.1835] [INSPIRE].
- [13] W. Donnelly and T. Jacobson, Coupling the inflaton to an expanding aether, Phys. Rev. D 82 (2010) 064032 [arXiv:1007.2594] [INSPIRE].
- [14] J.D. Barrow, Some inflationary Einstein-aether cosmologies, Phys. Rev. D 85 (2012) 047503
 [arXiv:1201.2882] [INSPIRE].
- [15] P. Sandin, B. Alhulaimi and A. Coley, Stability of Einstein-aether cosmological models, Phys. Rev. D 87 (2013) 044031 [arXiv:1211.4402] [INSPIRE].
- [16] A.R. Solomon and J.D. Barrow, Inflationary instabilities of Einstein-aether cosmology, Phys. Rev. D 89 (2014) 024001 [arXiv:1309.4778] [INSPIRE].
- S. Kanno and J. Soda, Lorentz violating inflation, Phys. Rev. D 74 (2006) 063505
 [hep-th/0604192] [INSPIRE].

- [18] A.R. Solomon, *Cosmology beyond Einstein*, Ph.D. thesis, Cambridge University, U.K. (2015), arXiv:1508.06859 [INSPIRE].
- [19] B. Alhulaimi, Einstein-aether cosmological scalar field models, Ph.D. thesis, Dalhousie University, Halifax, Canada (2017).
- [20] B. Alhulaimi, R.J. Van Den Hoogen and A.A. Coley, Spatially homogeneous Einstein-Aether cosmological models: scalar fields with a generalized harmonic potential, JCAP 12 (2017) 045 [arXiv:1707.08911] [INSPIRE].
- [21] J.J. Halliwell, Scalar fields in cosmology with an exponential potential, Phys. Lett. B 185 (1987) 341 [INSPIRE].
- [22] A.B. Burd and J.D. Barrow, Inflationary models with exponential potentials, Nucl. Phys. B 308 (1988) 929 [Erratum ibid. 324 (1989) 276] [INSPIRE].
- [23] Y. Kitada and K.-i. Maeda, Cosmic no hair theorem in power law inflation, Phys. Rev. D 45 (1992) 1416 [INSPIRE].
- [24] Y. Kitada and K.-i. Maeda, Cosmic no hair theorem in homogeneous space-times. 1. Bianchi models, Class. Quant. Grav. 10 (1993) 703 [INSPIRE].
- [25] J. Ibáñez, R.J. van den Hoogen and A.A. Coley, Isotropization of scalar field Bianchi models with an exponential potential, Phys. Rev. D 51 (1995) 928 [INSPIRE].
- [26] A.A. Coley, J. Ibáñez and R.J. van den Hoogen, Homogeneous scalar field cosmologies with an exponential potential, J. Math. Phys. 38 (1997) 5256 [INSPIRE].
- [27] R.J. van den Hoogen, A.A. Coley and J. Ibáñez, On the isotropization of scalar field Bianchi VIIh models with an exponential potential, Phys. Rev. D 55 (1997) 5215 [INSPIRE].
- [28] R.J. van den Hoogen and I. Olasagasti, Isotropization of scalar field Bianchi type IX models with an exponential potential, Phys. Rev. D 59 (1999) 107302 [INSPIRE].
- [29] A.A. Coley, G. Leon, P. Sandin and J. Latta, Spherically symmetric Einstein-aether perfect fluid models, JCAP 12 (2015) 010 [arXiv:1508.00276] [INSPIRE].
- [30] A.A. Coley, *Dynamical systems and cosmology*, Astrophysics and Space Science Library volume 291, Kluwer, Dordrecht, Netherlands (2003) [INSPIRE].